
 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 

Board of Zoning Appeals Agenda 
Red Bridge Park  

25 Red Bridge Park/697 W Jackson Street 
Cicero, IN 46034 

December 19th, 2024 
7:00 p.m. 

 
 
 
Roll Call of Members 
Present:  

� Scott Bockoski - Chairman 
� Mike Berry  
� Harrison Massone 
� Mark Thomas 
� Steve Zell 
� Aaron Culp - Legal Counsel 
� Frank Zawadzki - Cicero Jackson Township Planning Director 
� Terri Strong – Recorder  

 
1. Declaration of Quorum 

 
2.  Approval of Minutes 

November 21st, 2024 
 

 
3. Old Business:  

 
 

4. New Business:      
Petitioner: McClures 
Property Address: 23576 Englewood Drive, Cicero, IN 46034 
Docket: BZA-1224-52-C1 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 23576 Englewood 
Road, Cicero to: Allow an electronic pole sign 150 feet tall: Whereas Article 10.7 Commercial Sign Standards states that 
pole signs and electronic signs are prohibited.  
 

Petitioner: Jai & Robyn Cook 
Property Address: 8989 E 256th Street, Arcadia, IN 46034 
Docket: BZA-1224-53-AG 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 8989 E 256th St, 
Arcadia IN to: Allow a fence to be 6 feet tall in the front yard: Whereas Article 7.21 Fence and Wall Standards (FN) states 
that a fence shall not be greater than three (3) feet in height in the front yard. 

 
 
 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 
 

5. Plan Director’s Report: See packet.  
 

6. Chairperson’s Report:  
 

7. Legal Counsel’s Report: 
 

8. Board Member Comments: 
 

9. Next Planned Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting: 
January 9th, 2025 

 
10. Adjournment: 

 
Location: 
Red Bridge Park  
25 Red Bridge Park/697 W Jackson Street 
Cicero, IN 46034 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 

Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
November 21st, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Roll Call of Members 
Present:  

� Scott Bockoski - Chairman 
� Mike Berry  
� Harrison Massonne 
� Mark Thomas 
� Steve Zell 
� Frank Zawadzki - Cicero Jackson Township Planning Director 
� Terri Strong – Recorder  

Absent: 
 Aaron Culp-Legal Counsel 
 

1. Declaration of Quorum- Chairman Bockoski announced a quorum with five members present. 
 

2.  Approval of Minutes 
Mr. Berry made motion to approve minutes from meeting on October 17th, 2024.  Mr. Thomas second.  Motion passed 3-0-2 
Two members abstained as they were not present for meeting. 

 
 

3. Old Business:  
Approval of findings of facts-Chairman Bockoski stated the Findings of Facts were presented and called for approval.  Approved. 

 
 Chairman Bockoski asked for agenda item Rules of Procedure to be moved to the last item on the docket tonight. 

Mr. Zell made motion to move Rules of Procedure under Old Business to the end of tonight’s agenda to take care of 
business from citizens.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor.  

 
Chairman Bockoski stated for the public, the BZA is a quasi-judicial branch of the local government. Will be discussing the items listed on the 
docket and issues or stipulations regarding the docket.  All comments/questions should be directed to the Board members not the 
petitioners or parties with the petitioners.  Attendants must sign in if planning to speak.  You must state name and address each time you 
approach the podium.  Each item typically has time set aside for public hearing, if someone is in agreement with someone that previously 
spoke, stated agreement and move on in interest of time. Like to remind everyone that all motions are made in the affirmative but that does 
not mean it is the way we will vote.      
 
  

 
Petitioner:  David & Leah Cupps 
Property Address: 67 Hickory Ridge Circle, Cicero, IN 46034 
Docket #: BZA-1024-45-R1 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted seeking relief from Article 7.22 of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 
Ordinance which states; The primary building material for all facades of the Primary and Accessory Structures are to be brick, natural or cut 
stone.  
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to untable BZA-1024-45-R1.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor. 
 
David Cupps 67 Hickory Ridge Circle, Cicero.  Chairman Bockoski clarified the reason for tabling this docket last month, due to requesting 
more information.  This was included in packets, it was the March 23, 2023, items that were approved for the property.  Chairman Bockoski 
asked if the Board had reviewed and if any questions.  None asked.  Chairman Bockoski asked if Mr. Zawadzki had any comments. Mr. 
Zawadzki gave update, here for variance last year to get design approved.  The board approved several variances, the design presented had 
stone on the north front.  When finished building, the stone was omitted, discussed with contractor and stated would prefer to not have due 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
to danger to horses.  Communicated that it was not the design approved and would need to add stone or ask for a variance to not add the 
stone.   
 
 
Chairman Bockoski asked Mr. Cupps if he had anything to add.  Mr. Cupps stated I wasn’t here at last month, worried about the safety of the 
horses in that area.  They are dry lots are made to stay dry when muddy in other lots.  When enclosed in there want to have wood so if they 
kick it they would be less likely to hurt themselves.  There are only four spots, a few feet between the doors, there will be gates at the end of 
the dry lots, so when you are looking from the street, the area would be blocking view.  The doors would be open most of the time, which 
would also be covering where the stone would be if required.   
Chairman Bockoski thanked for clarification and asked Mr. Zawadzki if the definition of façade was also discussed.  Mr. Zawadzki stated we 
interpret the word façade to mean the side that shows.  Primarily brick or stone, not aluminum, not plywood,  textured siding must show on 
all sides.  So if side that no one would see, that is not counted as façade.  Chairman Bockoski clarified the percentage to be 51%.  Mr. 
Zawadzki stated 51% for the primary structure but have made approvals in the past what catches the eye.  In this case the main house does 
meet the 51%, you cannot count doors and windows, so numbers work out.  The accessory structure must relate to the primary structure. 
The standards are not the same for an accessory structure.  However, they must relate which means same design and materials.  Mr. Cupp 
added we added nine stone columns on the property in the fence, to make it more aesthetically pleasing.  We also added underside lighting 
on the columns, the metal gates with lights on columns, greenhouse attached to south side of house added stone on bottom.  Mr. Cupp stated 
we went further to add more stones in total because that side doesn’t face the road.    
Mr. Zell asked what brought to his attention the potential injury to horses after the approvals, the variances.  Why wasn’t it brought to our 
attention?  Mr. Cupps stated the whole project has been a learning experience.  Know horses now but six months before started the polo 
team participation had not ridden.  I didn’t know about concerns until other horse people brought to my attention. Probably not the last 
thing I will say, I didn’t think about that. 
Chairman Bockoski stated we do have the option to not open to the public, however, think we can do that. 
 
Mr. Zell made motion to open public hearing on this matter.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor.   
 
Jay Nichols 10175 Donaldson Lane, Westfield. Mother lives at 45 Hickory Ridge.  Would refer to minutes from meeting in October, the 
renderings showed that there were stone all the way around the accessory structure as well as the primary structure.  Wonder where the 
façade is only defined as just the front of the house.  Along Hickory Ridge Circle both structures face the longest portion of the street.  Mr. 
Nichols stated minutes state buildings do not have stone all the way around, the primary structure has less than 20% and the east side and 
south side of the secondary structure do not have any stone on it.  If the façade is only the portion that faces the street, the longest portion is 
along Hickory Ridge Circle.  Estimated that to be 1500-1800 linear feet.  Mr. Nichols stated the minutes gave exemptions to the accessory 
structures but not the primary structure not mentioned and not requested as a variance.  Looks like a farm in the middle of a million-dollar 
subdivision and detracts from the value of the other homes in the subdivision.  Question would be where is the façade definition only road 
facing, and if it is it should be the whole structure including the south facing.  Trying to protect the home values in the neighborhood.  Fearful 
it will detract from the neighborhood values with a horse farm, concern for stables at the property.  Feel there are many things given relief 
from, and some things that should have been kept in place for the values. Neighborhood sign was removed, and property sign says Firefly 
Farms, it is not a neighborhood farm but an apartment for when they are riding.  Big apartment to be used randomly and fearful of being 
turned into quarters for a riding stable.  Have 50 pictures if wanted.  
Chairman Bockoski stated not necessary but thank you for offering. 
 
Mr. Zell made motion to close public hearing on this petition.  Mr. Berry second.  All present in favor. 
 
Chairman Bockoski stated some points brought up, question to Mr. Zawadzki, as we discuss façade and road wrapping around property. 
While this does not pertain to this docket, is it something to be investigated for the future?  Mr. Zawadzki is consistent with what has been 
approved in the area, if someone backs to woods, we don’t have authority to require.  Could there be a Plan Commission question if we want 
to address the ordinance?  Mr. Zawadzki stated his job to interpret the ordinance, and we have made that recommendation. 
Mr. Zell stated in his years he would say our attorney would state the same as what Mr. Zawadzki shared tonight, this is what we have been 
taught.  While every case is on its own, I would say this same definition has been applied in the past.   
Mr. Massonne referenced the past minutes when Mr. Zell asked if the plan included boarding horses, Mr. Cupp stated no, apartment is for he 
and family.  Reference included if did, he would be in violation.  Mr. Massonne stated do take in consideration that it is important to not 
commercialize residential neighborhoods.  Mr. Cupps did ask in the meeting (2023) about the stone around but if met covenants without 
being around would leave off.  Mr. Zell reminded that tonight’s petition is about the north side of the barn.  Mr. Massonne stated his opinion 
after the fact is that once the boards go up, they will not see the stone.  Mr. Thomas agreed.  Mr. Zell  stated it is a beautiful setting and do not 
see how it can be a negative to the neighborhood property values.  Always look at impact to the neighbors. 
 
Mr. Thomas made motion to approve BZA-1024-45-R1 as presented.  Mr. Zell second. 
Mr. Zell-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-deny  Motion passed 4-1.  



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 
 

4.     New Business:      
         Petitioner:  Justin & Kristin Bender 

Property Address: 2030 W Morse Drive 
Docket : BZA-1124-46-R3   

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted seeking relief from Article 3.8 which states that the square feet of all 
primary and secondary structures and impervious surface cannot exceed 45% of the Lot Area. 
 
Kristin Bender 2030 W. Morse Drive, have two boys that love basketball and while our drive has large slant 
 they wind up in the street.  Trying to take up our yard for a sport court/patio for the back.  Chairman Bockoski asked if aerial footage is 
available.  Mr. Zawadzki added to the monitor.  Chairman Bockoski asked what is behind the property.  Mrs. Bender stated there is a creek 
and woods.  Mr. Massonne stated Tamarack is behind the wooded area.  Described as removing the trampoline, have a small patio showing 
with bricks that would become grass again.  Mrs. Bender stated there is a utility line, also a retaining wall on sides that we are trying to 
match.   
 
Mr. Zell made motion to open public hearing.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor. 
Mr. Zawadzki had letter from Joel Levi 263 Alvor Ct. Cicero, only concern is tree line providing privacy, do not want to lose trees.   
Chairman Bockoski stated he could see that question.   Mr. Zawadzki stated did not think it was an issue. 
 
Mr. Zell made motion to close public hearing.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor. 
 
Mr. Zell questioned if lighting was going to be added.  Mrs. Bender stated we have two lights, but no additional lighting will be added. Mr. 
Berry asked if it would impact drainage in the area.  Mr. Zawadzki stated he didn’t think so.  There is a very large, wooded area behind the 
house. That is why we have the impervious surface ordinance for regulate runoff.  The house where it sits, 4306 feet allowed, currently has 
4309 as it was built doesn’t meet the standards.  Would add another 7-8% and do not anticipate any issues at all.   
 
Mr.  Massonne made motion to approve BZA-1124-46-R3 as presented.  Mr. Thomas second. 
Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve.  Motion passed 5-0  
 
 
Chairman Bockoski stated the next petitioner is Stellhorn Cicero, LLC and will have three dockets that we will discuss together and vote on 
separately.   

 
Petitioner: Stellhorn Cicero, LLC 
Property Address: 109 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

 Docket: BZA-1124-47-DC 
A Special Exception Use Variance application has been submitted concerning Article 4.5 of the “DC” District Standards of the Cicero/Jackson 
Township Zoning Ordinance in order to: Allow for the property located at 109 West Jackson Street, Cicero Indiana to use the property for a 
restaurant with outdoor seating, whereas a restaurant with outdoor seating is not a Permitted use and is only a Special Exception Use in the 
“DC” district. 

 
Petitioner: Stellhorn Cicero, LLC 
Property Address: 109 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

 Docket : BZA-1124-48-DC 
A Development Standard Variance application has been submitted seeking relief from Article 7.13 PK-04 which states that there shall be one 
(1) parking space per employee, one (1) space per every three seats in a restaurant, and one space for every two hundred fifty (250) feet of 
office space in the “DC” district. 
 

Petitioner: Stellhorn Cicero, LLC 
 Property Address: 109 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 
 Docket : BZA-1124-49-DC 
A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted seeking relief from Article 7.13 PK-03 which states that there shall be 
one (1) deciduous shade tree per every ten (10) parking spaces in the “DC” district.   
 
JR Fryberger business address 109 W. Jackson Street, live at 4020 E. 226th St. Cicero.  Chairman Bockoski asked for petitioner to tell what 
have planned and about the exceptions.  Mr. Fryberger plan is for the main floor of the building, restaurant and outdoor patio.  The other two  
 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 
 
standards, the landscaping and parking, have more parking than most in town.  Have our parking and exclusive lease for parking lot next 
door. Have under lease control, it is 40 spaces.  Do not feel it would be a burden for any businesses along Jackson St.  To allow landscape 
along the area of Byron and Jackson would be challenge, will be leaving the trees that are there, if we do take any out would replace with 
bushes.  To allow trees in alley would not be feasible.  Chairman Bockoski stated have heard this before but treat each situation individually 
and appreciate your due diligence. Mr. Berry asked for the final name, there is two different names.  Mr. Fryberger stated Red Bridge Bistro 
is the intended name.  Mr. Berry asked what is the anticipated seating capacity of the restaurant.  Mr. Fryberger answered overall occupancy 
level is 99, with seating 78-85 to allow for staff. That would be the inside, we haven’t set the outside level.  Mr. Berry questioned further.  Mr. 
Fryberger stated around the same, 75 total of 150.  Mr. Berry stated according to ordinance you would need 60 parking spaces.  Mr. 
Fryberger thought he would have that.  Mr. Zawadzki stated they have 48 and per standards should have 70+.  Mr. Zell questioned if in 
restaurant business currently.  Mr. Fryberger stated managing partner.  Tom shared his story, casual American fare, affordable.  Mr. Zell 
complimented the plans that have been shared.    Mr. Massonne questioned if square footage of patio is available.  Mr. Fryberger did not.  Mr. 
Zawadzki stated his copy had 2000, another one stated 1000.  Mr. Massonne stated French drain is to be used to the town system.  Answered 
that is correct.  Discussion on the plans, outdoor freezer, outdoor bar.  Color of items discussed, complimentary to brick and dark brown 
trim.  Mr. Massonne questioned whether the business was dependent upon the outdoor seating, can survive winters without. Mr. Fryberger 
answered yes.  Mr. Zell questioned if adding music.  Mr. Fryberger stated he would like to add to the vibe.  Limits discussed.  Mr. Zawadzki 
stated limits are set with ordinance.  Mr. Thomas questioned the actual entrance to the building.  Mr. Fryberger stated if Byron sidewalks are 
to be widened ramp would be there.   Otherwise, we would use the front door. Doors discussed.  Mr. Zell questioned anticipated opening 
time.  Answer was May 1, 2025.  Mr. Fryberger added history that his construction company has done 3-400 restaurant over last 15-20 
years.  Construction is not the issue.  Mr. Massonne questioned review of signage.  Mr. Zawadzki stated would be doing an Aesthetic Review 
next meeting for signage.  Mr. Thomas asked if patio was all concrete.  Mr. Fryberger answered yes.   Mr. Thomas questioned the fencing that 
was currently in place.  Mr. Fryberger stated the fencing on the alley would remain, it is open on Jackson Street.  Helps with security.  Also 
fencing along patio area, anticipate obligation with alcohol that we would need the fencing. Decorative would be anticipated but to meet the 
alcohol board’s requirements.   
  
Mr. Zell made motion to open public hearing on this project.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor.  
 
Chairman Bockoski asked if any public wanting to speak to step forward.  Also questioned Mr. Zawadzki if any items to read into record.  Mr. 
Zawadzki stated no items. 
 
Ian Heuer 25555 Scherer Ave, did not know that it was on the agenda tonight but appreciate the investment here and preserving historic 
buildings.  Love seeing what Cicero is becoming.   
 
Mr. Zell made motion to close public hearing.  Mr. Massonne second.  All present in favor.  
 
Chairman Bockoski stated three items, is there any stipulations that may need to be placed on them.  Special exceptions is first one, parking, 
and landscaping.  Mr. Zell stated they will be going before the Plan Commission for aesthetics so that is covered.  Mr. Thomas questioned the 
basement and would be moving down there.  Mr. Fryberger stated it is utility and has no intent to occupy.  Mr. Thomas follow up with no 
intent to branch out in future.  Mr. Fryberger stated not asking for that.  Mr. Berry asked for opening time, and May was mentioned, since we 
have said in past we would place time frames on process, but this is not a new building.  Mr. Zell stated he felt we should follow rules of 
procedures.  Discussion ensued on past issues/delays.  Chairman Bockoski summarized to petitioner that if not completed in 12 months, you 
would come back to the Board.  Mr. Fryberger stated he felt that was very reasonable, May is goal but obviously could have issues. 
 
Mr. Zell made motion to approve BZA-1124-47-DC as presented with the following condition:  The project has to be completed 
within one year from approval date.  Mr. Berry seconded.   
Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve.  5-0 
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-1124-48-DC as presented.  Mr. Thomas second.   
Mr. Zell-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve.  5-0 
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-1124-49-DC as presented.  Mr. Zell second. 
Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve.  5-0 
  
Chairman Bockoski stated the next items on the docket will also be discussed together and voted on separately.   
 
 
 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
 
 Petitioner: James Heuer  

Property Address: 0 Spring Street, Cicero, IN 46034 
 Docket: BZA-1124-50-R5 
A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 0 West Spring St, Cicero IN, 46034 
seeking relief from Article 3.12 “R5” District Standards which states that the minimum lot area shall be 10,000 square feet. 
 
 Petitioner: James Heuer 
 Property Address: 0 Spring Street, Cicero, IN 46034 
 Docket: BZA-1124-51-R5 
A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 0 West Spring St, Cicero IN, 46034 
seeking relief from Article 3.12 “R5” District Standards which states that street access must be directly from street on the front side of the 
primary structure. 
 
Ian Heuer 25555 Scherer Avenue, Arcadia own the property on corner of Bryon and Spring and haven’t done anything with it, put up for sale.  
Interested party came forward and reached out to Frank, can we build a house on it?  We had already gone thru process for that but the R5 
standards have changed and now the lot is no longer compliant with the new standards.  It is a 62-foot-wide lot, 132 feet deep, not 
inconsistent with what is in the area but the changes to R5 standards impact the lot size and the alley or side access.  Asking for variances to 
build what we thought we already was approved.   
Chairman Bockoski questioned the front side bring Spring side, are we saying there is not access from Spring side.  Mr. Zawadzki explained 
that the design plan shown and approved at Plan Commission showed a rear entry garage or alley way access. While subdivision was 
approved, the design does not have a front load garage.  Chairman Bockoski questioned if common in Cicero.  Mr. Zawadzki stated it is all 
over town, not unique.  Mr. Thomas verified the information is what was presented to Plan Commission.  Mr. Zawadzki stated correct, was an 
approved parcel at that time.  Did debate if legal non-conforming, Mr. Culp felt this was necessary.   
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to open public hearing.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor. 
 
Stephanie Yott, 1140 Shoreline Drive, Cicero actually representing the buyer.  One of the conditions of buying is that it is buildable. They 
have gone to the trouble to fix after the zoning changes.  Going from 5000 to 10000 put a lot of lots in Cicero at non-compliance.  Question to 
protect buyer is if you are approving with the exact plan that Ian and his brother have submitted.  They want to make sure if they wanted to 
make architectural changes would they have to come before the Board again.   
Chairman Bockoski stated what we are going to rule on this evening is the minimum lot area and then the access to the street.   
Mrs. Yott stated they liked the design, especially the side alley access.  As a general question with the new zoning, what happens if a house 
burns down and they have a 6000 square foot lot but are noncompliance so what happens? Mr. Zawadzki stated we have an ordinance that 
protects residents in those types of cases.  We have an ordinance that if it was 75% or more destroyed and there before, this ordinance 
would not pertain to that situation.  Have authority to approve building permit. They could rebuild.  Mrs. Yott asked if they could sell the lot, 
if they decided not to rebuild.  Chairman Bockoski stated typically our decision goes with the owner for that property at the time.  Adding, 
this is to protect the town from having something really strange that doesn’t fit, doesn’t fit the environment.  Example used was an 
apartment building on a small lot.  Standards were discussed.   
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to close public hearing.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor.  
 
Chairman Bockoski questioned Board members if any stipulations.  Mr. Berry stated like the last one, a time frame.  Mr. Heuer stated he 
would request no timeframe, we do not know what their plans are, our intent is to sell to them with these approvals.  I don’t know if it is one 
year or five years, and frankly don’t know for us either.  Chairman Bockoski stated we would want to put something on it.  Two years is 
normal.  Mr. Heuer stated our intent is to sell to them going through process to help them.   Mrs. Yott added they don’t have a plan yet, 
questioning once they submit a plan there is a time limit on completion.  Chairman Bockoski stated if approved tonight within the two years 
it has to be complete.  Mrs. Yott questioned even without a building plan being submitted.  Mr. Massonne read section of ordinances relating 
to building plans.  Building permits and/or improvements with fees will be applied for within 90 days of final court action.  All site 
improvements including structures shall be completed and inspected and issued a Certificate of Occupancy within 2 years of issuance of 
building permit or if otherwise approved by the Board.  Chairman Bockoski stated this is new but that is what we are talking about.  Mrs. 
Yott asked if she could get a copy of that. Mr. Zawadzki stated yes.  Mr. Massonne questioned if we kept it with property owner, what 
happens if they are selling on Monday.  Mr. Thomas questioned the current ownership.  Mr. Heuer stated he is with his brother, planning to 
sell to the other people. Mr. Massonne stated the intent is to make sure the single-family home that is planned to build does not become a 
duplex that will max out the lot per ordinance.  Mrs. Yott verified that the new owners would have to come to get a building permit with their 
plans.  Mr. Zawadzki stated yes they would, and he would verify at that point it would meet all standards.  If not, they would have to come 
before the board for any variances.  Discussion of new requirements and variances.   Mr. Zawadzki stated the Board can specify whatever 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
they want, if you specify it is typically with the property owner.  If you don’t specify, then a Development Standard would run with the 
parcel.  What that  
 
 
would mean, if you approved tonight, the two-year rule would be in effect, with the parcel not the petitioner.  But you do have the authority 
to specify.  Mr. Massonne questioned whether the variance would be forever or whether the person buying on Monday.  Discussion ensued 
on time limits and changing of ownership rules.   
Stephanie Yott  1140 Shoreline Drive asked if prior to the change, could it be to ask for a variance to the way it was?  Gave example of 
Shoreline Drive changes when they built their home, stating they asked for variance to match other homes in the neighborhood prior to 
ordinance changes that affected them.  Is that what they are asking for or are they asking for that specific house?  Mr. Zawadzki answered 
they are asking for relief from standards.  That is what the legal notice says.  Chairman Bockoski stated it is a fine line, to do what you are 
wanting but people do strange things, and we want to protect the town.  Chairman Bockoski stated can approve with the parcel but with 
timeline of two years.  Mrs. Yott asked if two years go by and haven’t built they have to get an extension.  Chairman Bockoski stated yes. 
Mr. Berry asked what if petitioner withdrew this request and the new owner came, what would be situation.  Mrs. Yott stated she could 
answer, would not be able to sell the lot, on billing sheet it is listed as a buildable lot.  Purchase agreement is contingent upon the variance.  It 
would have a hard time selling unless went through this again, as it is not buildable per standards. At least for a buildable lot price.   
Mr. Berry questioned, if we approve it tonight and two years pass with no building, it is no longer a buildable lot, and they have to come back 
is that correct.  Mr. Zawadzki stated correct.  Mr. Thomas stated we could approve it under the old rules.  Mr. Zawadzki stated yes.   
 
Discussion among board members on conditions and dockets ensued. 
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to close the public hearing.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor.   
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA 1124-50-R5 with the condition that Certificate of Occupancy is issued within two years.  
Mr. Thomas second.  
Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Zell-approve.  5-0 
 
Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA 1124-51-R5 with the condition that the Certificate of Occupancy is issued within two 
years.  Mr. Zell second.   
Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve.  5-0 
  

5.  Old Business Part 2: 
 

Rules of Procedures- Chairman Bockoski stated feel we can read through and approve tonight without guidance of legal counsel, 
however, want to hear from other Board members.  Mr. Zell asked Mr. Zawadzki if he felt there were any significate differences to the way 
we have been operating.  Mr. Zawadzki stated not significate other than one difference is the thing we just discussed.  That was a big push by 
Plan Commission president and council. There is a cleanup of language throughout.  Chairman Bockoski stated the purpose is to submit into 
public record that this is the way we conduct ourselves.  Mr. Berry questioned section 3.2.  Mr. Zawadzki clarified that gives board member 
ability to recluse without giving reason.  Chairman Bockoski stated he also reads the section as ability to recluse if wanted to represent 
neighbor as example. Discussion ensued with examples.  Mr. Zawadzki stated he felt it was personal conflict.  Mr. Zell questioned if this was 
presented previously by Aaron.  Mr. Thomas stated it could be tabled and discussed in December.  Mr. Zawadzki stated could call Aaron if 
questions, as we would like to get approved.  Call was placed to Mr. Culp to join the meeting.   
Mr. Zawadzki stated they would like a brief discussion with the Rules of Procedures.  
Mr. Berry had a question regarding 3.2 last sentence.  In event one board member wants to bring forth a petition and there are five others on 
the agenda.  Mr. Culp stated they are only required to sit out the one hearing.  Each item has its own hearing. Mr. Berry second question, if a 
petitioner comes forth with an item and a board member is against for whatever reason, could they recluse themselves and present their 
opposition or support during the meeting.  Mr. Culp if it is an item of which they do not have a conflict.  Idea is if they recluse themselves 
from a petition they cannot go to audience and present their side.  Mr. Thomas stated that any conflict we have as a board member, we are 
negating our voice against that opposition.  Mr. Culp stated the concern is that if a board member recluse and sits in the audience they are 
like board members participating ahead of the vote.   
Mr. Zell are you ok with us approving this without going through it?  Mr. Culp stated if the board is ready to proceed the document is ready. 
Mr. Berry in the finding of facts, do all the criteria have to be yes to approve or if one is not can it be approved.  Mr. Culp answered they all 
have to be met.  Mr. Thomas questioned page 12, paragraph 6, petitioner provides a certified list of names, which we get from the 
courthouse, in the last sentence, the receipts and sign affidavits, isn’t that already done by getting the list from the courthouse.  Mr. Culp 
stated if the petitioner went through the step of going to the courthouse that would be met.  Mr. Thomas feeling it is redundant in the 
wording.  Mr. Culp answered could insert “as provided by Hamilton County Transfer and Maps”.  And could get rid of affidavit requirement 
as long as they are getting the list from the courthouse.  Mr. Zawadzki questioned if that could be done later.  Mr. Culp stated orally if agreed 
can be added.  Mr. Zell questioned what key points are now in the documents that would require changes from us as members.  Mr. Culp 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
stated there really aren’t changes, just language changes due to statue changes.  The defaults would be an area that is updated.  So, you don’t 
always have to ask or add unless you are giving more time.  Mr. Zell asked if these are state statues.  Mr. Culp answered a lot is based upon 
state statue. 
 
Mr. Culp explained language corrections were a part of it.  Example:  chairperson instead of chairman.  Mr. Thomas questioned page 10, 8.2, 
do want to limit the number of times they continue.  We are limited on others.  Mr. Culp stated the way it is written it would be the Board to 
decide.  Mr. Thomas asked if a concern from Mr. Zawadzki.  He replied that it has not been an issue for him.  Mr. Zawadzki stated to Mr. Culp 
he will get signatures and then will get changes made as discussed.  
      

6.  Plan Director’s Report:   Mr. Zawadzki highlighted report which was in the packets to the members as follows.  October 2024 
 permit revenue was $6976 bringing YTD $53370.  October 2023 permit revenue was $13255 and YTD of $85465.  Difference for month was 
-$6279 and YTD -$32095.  Building permits issued for month were 25 with 18 in town limits, zero new homes and 7 in the township with 
one new home.  Estimated cost of permit projects is $1700889.   

 
7. Chairperson’s Report: Chairman Bockoski opened with taking a moment to recognize Frank Zawadzki.  Without him and other key 

 members of board, last month was difficult.  I appreciate due diligence.  Constantly providing the services the community requires to uphold 
our standards.  Thank you and you are a valued member of the team.  
 

8. Legal Counsel’s Report:  No report. 
 

9. Board Member Comments:  Mr. Thomas the façade to the south, stating it is a long ways away from the road. Do we have a 
 length/setback that would impact that. Chairman Bockoski stated that is where Frank’s interpretation is valued.  It is so far away.  Mr. Zell 
added that it was why he brought up the reason we are here is for the petitions before us.  Mr. Massonne questioned the 51% not being on 
the standards by percentage.  Discussion ensued.   
Mr. Massonne asked Mr. Zawadzki regarding his report, how difficult it would be to have in January how many building permits were issued 
in 2024.  Mr. Zawadzki stated not a big deal, can be added.  Mr. Massonne shared his reason for asking as it relates to speculation on the part 
of School Board consultant.  Mr. Zawadzki stated that he reports to US Census and also BAGI monthly, yearly is not an issue.  Mr. Massonne 
stated his numbers stated 50 students by 2035.   
 

10. Next Planned Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting: 
December 19th, 2024 

 
11. Adjournment:  Mr. Massonne made motion to adjourn.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor.  

 
 
Chairman______________________________________ 
 
Secretary______________________________________ 
 
Date____________________________________________ 
 
 
 
Location: 
Cicero Town Hall 
70 N Byron Street 
Cicero, IN 46034 



Approval of 
Findings of 
Facts:  
Page 11 - 79 



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



pLANNING CICERO / JACKSON TOWNSHIP oE\fELOPM£JVt 

;:.fcjffffl 'i, (BOARD OF ZONING AND APPEALS) 
CICERO/JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

VARIANCE APPLICATION 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Variance Category Docket#: 

Q Development Standards Q Special Exception Date of Application: 

Q Land Use Q Other Date of Expiration: 
Variance Check List Variance Fee: 

Q Adjoiner List Q Legal Notice Copy Date of Hearing: 

Q Certified Mail Receipts Q Property Sign Date of Decision: 

Q Additional Applications for Variances Q Approved I□ Not Approved
APPLICANT MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 

State: I ZIP Code: 
E-mail:

State:JN I ZIP Code:
Subdivision: 
Telephone: 
Fax: 

, 

Cell Phone: 
I ZIP Code: Email: 

Property Owner: 

Property Address: 
City: 
Telephone: 

I Fax: 

Address: 
City: 
Parcel: 
General Contractor:
Address:
City:  State:

Variance Request: 

Commitments/ Conditions Offered: 

Code Section Appealed: 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984-5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Project

BZA-1224-52-C1
11/12/2024

$320.00
12/19/2024



p\..ANNING 
ptVEL0PM£ro• 

� r;, 
CICERO/JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

CICERO / JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

(BOARD OF ZONING AND APPEALS) 

Petitioners List of Findings 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 

PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984-5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 



FUEL
STOP

150’  overall height

8' x 24' Logo Sign

11' x 41'6" Price Sign

Total Sign Area = 649 SF
     Logo Sign꞉ 192 SF
     Price Sign꞉ 457 SF

 
 

Client Install Location Sales

Client Approval꞉ Date꞉
800. 821. 9013

316 S. 6th Street, 
St. Joseph, MO 64501

John Boyd
970.390.6800
JohnB@Sunshine.US.com

McClure Oil McClure 
Cicero, IN

Install per engineering
by Bennett and Pless,
Job #꞉

DIESEL CREDITUNLEADED CREDIT



11’ x 41’6” x 64”  Double‑face Cabinet

??? pipe thru‑pole mounting

Install Bottom service door offset for ??? BASE PIPE

Install top service door near pole with inside access ‑ make with access to top door.

POWER Lead Drops (all circuits are 120 volt)
4 circuits total 
     Diesel꞉  2 circuits ‑ 16 amp draw each w.10 gage wire drop
     Unleaded꞉ 2 circuits ‑ 14 amp draw each w. 10 gage wire drop

Price sign circuits must have dedicated neutrals and ground lines (do not
share with each other or lighting circuits)

Recommend a dedicated grounding rod at the sign installed per local code.

DIESEL CREDIT

C

ETL LISTED

102482

CONFORMS TO
UL STD 48

UL STD 1433
CERTIFIED TO

CAN/CSA STD C22.2 NO. 207

This original drawing is provided as part of a planned 
project and is not to be exhibited, copied or 
reproduced without the written permission of Sunshine 
Electronic Display Corporation or its authorized agent. 
All installation details are suggested only. All signs must 
be installed in accordance with NATIONAL, STATE, 
ELECTRICAL AND BUILDING CODES. Sunshine 
Electronic Display Corporation has no responsibility for 
wind loads, installations or electrical circuits. These are 
the sole responsibility of the Buyer/user.
� Actual LED size and conguration may vary

Cabinet Specs Label Specs

 
 

Job #꞉Client Install Location Sales
Date꞉

Client Approval꞉ Date꞉
800. 821. 9013

316 S. 6th Street, 
St. Joseph, MO 64501

Date꞉ 

DateRevisions

10600

Revisions꞉John Boyd
970.390.6800
JohnB@Sunshine.US.com

McClure Oil McClure 
CICERO, IN

Green pricer same build as red

Same layout both sides

Digits back to back

Digit Size & Style꞉
“UNL” Digit Color꞉
“DSL” Digit Color꞉
Overall Cab, Size꞉
Cabinet Color꞉
S/F or D/F꞉
Build Type꞉

LED Backlit Label Panel꞉
Label Cap Height & Style꞉
“UNL” Label Panel Color꞉
“UNL” Label Type Color꞉  
“DSL” Label Panel Color꞉
“DSL” Label Type Color꞉

Optimum digit spacing
Minimum digit spacing
Weld collars provided/pole specs by others
Control box placement to be determined
Label colors for representation only
sq ft꞉ 456.5

89” LED
Red
Green
11’ x 41’6” x ???
Black
D/F
Over Pole Mount w. plates

2’4” x 12’6” 
20” Helvetica Medium
3M 3630‑73 red
White
3M 3630‑76 green
White

11/09/24

??? deep cabinet
Supply with 1/2” plate
collars top and bottom

16” CASH/CREDIT on both prices
red unleaded, green diesel

UNLEADED CREDIT



FUEL
STOP

Price Sign Below

POWER Lead Drops (120 volt)
1 circuit total (logo sign only ‑ does not include price sign below)
     1, 14 amp draw with 10 gage wire drop 

 
 

Job #꞉Client Install Location Sales
Date꞉

Client Approval꞉ Date꞉
800. 821. 9013

316 S. 6th Street, 
St. Joseph, MO 64501

Date꞉ 

DateRevisions

10600

Revisions꞉John Boyd
970.390.6800
JohnB@Sunshine.US.com

McClure Oil McClure 
Cicero, IN

11/09/25

8’ x 24” x ???  Double‑face Cabinet

Saddle Mounting ‑ ??? pipe

Flex‑Face ‑ internally illuminated with LED’s ‑ 4‑1/2” retainer

Service doors on each end and on the bottom

Ladder to access the top center of the sign at the service door.
Service Doors top, bottom (match price sign) and both ends.

8’ x 24’  High Rise Logo Sign

64” deep cabinet
Supply with 1/2” plate
collars top and bottom,
Pipe extends thru top
Supply cap.



FUEL
STOP

Production Art
VO=7’3” x 23’3”
Trim Size = 8’3” x 24’3”

Red Color꞉ Match PMS 186c
Yellow Color꞉ Match PMS 109c
White꞉ material substrate





 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-1224-52-C1 
Petitioner: McClure Oil  
 
 

                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-1224-52-C1 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: McClure Oil 
Property Size: 17.72 
Current Zoning: C1 
Location: 0 E 236th Street/23576 Englewood Drive 
 
Background Summary: A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted 
regarding the property located at 23576 Englewood Road, Cicero to: Allow an electronic pole 
sign 150 feet tall: Whereas Article 10.7 Commercial Sign Standards states that pole signs and 
electronic signs are prohibited.  

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff would not oppose approval.  

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: Pole signs at any height are not permitted in 
any zoning district.  
 
District Intent: : The “C1” District (Small to Medium Scale General Business) is 
intended to provide a land use category for most small scale general business 
uses.  
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 
Current Property Information: 
Land Use: Vacant Land that has been approved for a convenience store with fuel 
pumps and outdoor seating.  
Site Features: Adjacent to US 31 and E 236th st. There is a regulated drain feature 
to the west of the parcel. A new road (Englewood) has been built to the east and 
access is gained from this new road.  
 
Vehicle Access: Yes 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general considerations, planning concepts, and other facts should 
be considered in the Plan Commission decision making process:  
 
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: A practical difficulty argument can be made 
here based on safety requirements regarding semi-trucks. The height that was 
approved previously (60’), does not appear to be high enough to give highway 
speed trucks on US-31 ample time to see the sign and safely decelerate to make 
the exit at 236th st. A plan was discussed about an adjacent property owner to the 
south cutting trees to improve visibility, these discussions and therefore this 
option has, for now, become somewhat cost prohibitive.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


Cicirol 
Findings of Fact/Decision Criteria: 

CICERO/JACKSON 

TOWNSHIP 

PLAN COMMISSION 

The Board of Zoning Appeals may approve or deny variances from the development standards of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 

Ordinance. The Board may impose written commitments and/or reasonable conditions as part of an approval. A variance from the 

development standards may only be approved upon a determination in writing that: 

1 The approval will not be injurious to the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the 

community. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

2 The use and value of the area adjacent to the property included in the variance will not be affected in a 

substantially adverse manner. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

3 The strict application of the terms of the zoning ordinance will result in practical difficulties in the use 

of the property. Practical Difficulty: A difficulty with regard to one's ability to improve land stemming from regulations of 

this Ordinance. A practical difficulty is not a "hardship," rather it is situation where owner could comply with the regulations 

within this Ordinance but would like a variance from the Development Standards to improve his site in a practical manner. For 

instance, a person may request a variance from a side yard setback due to a large tree which is blocking the only location that 

would meet the Development Standards for a new garage location. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 

PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984•5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

... 

Docket # BZA-1224-52-C1
McClure's 













 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-1224-53-AG 
Petitioner: Jai & Robyn Cook 
 
 

                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-1224-53-AG 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: Jai & Robyn Cook 
Property Size: 1.23 
Current Zoning: AG 
Location: 8989 E 256th Street, Arcadia, IN 46030 
 
Background Summary: A Development Standards Variance application has been 
submitted regarding the property located at 8989 E 256th St, Arcadia IN to: Allow 
a fence to be 6 feet tall in the front yard: Whereas Article 7.21 Fence and Wall 
Standards (FN) states that a fence shall not be greater than three (3) feet in height 
in the front yard.  

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff would not oppose approval.  

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: Petitioner has some big dogs that can jump 36’ 
fence pretty easily. There has also been some trouble with neighbor’s dogs 
coming into their yard along with coyotes. House sits back toward the rear of the 
property and in order to have a useable space, the 6’ chain-link fence is best 
suited to include the front. The fence is mostly transparent, will not impede traffic 
visibility and plans will not encroach on any Right of way, property line or 
easements. 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 
 
District Intent: : The “AG” District (Agriculture) is intended to provide a land use 
category for agricultural activities.  
 
Current Property Information: 
Land Use: One Family Dwelling Platted 
Site Features: Wooded parcel in the AG district. Dead end road.  
 
Vehicle Access: Yes 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general considerations, planning concepts, and other facts should 
be considered in the Plan Commission decision making process: There was a 
Variance granted a few months ago to allow a pole barn in front of the home.  
 
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: I think a solid argument about the practical 
difficulty can be made based on the location of the home on the parcel along with 
the effectiveness of the 36” standard for the front. Any legal fence would not be 
enough room or effective to contain large dogs such as Belgian Malinois and still 
provide humane treatment.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


Cicirol 
Findings of Fact/Decision Criteria: 

CICERO/JACKSON 

TOWNSHIP 

PLAN COMMISSION 

The Board of Zoning Appeals may approve or deny variances from the development standards of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 

Ordinance. The Board may impose written commitments and/or reasonable conditions as part of an approval. A variance from the 

development standards may only be approved upon a determination in writing that: 

1 The approval will not be injurious to the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the 

community. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

2 The use and value of the area adjacent to the property included in the variance will not be affected in a 

substantially adverse manner. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

3 The strict application of the terms of the zoning ordinance will result in practical difficulties in the use 

of the property. Practical Difficulty: A difficulty with regard to one's ability to improve land stemming from regulations of 

this Ordinance. A practical difficulty is not a "hardship," rather it is situation where owner could comply with the regulations 

within this Ordinance but would like a variance from the Development Standards to improve his site in a practical manner. For 

instance, a person may request a variance from a side yard setback due to a large tree which is blocking the only location that 

would meet the Development Standards for a new garage location. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 

PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984•5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

... 

Docket # BZA-1224-53-AG
Jai & Robyn Cook 





  
 

 

Director's Report 

November 2024 

Permit Revenue:  November 2024 = $5,491, YTD: $58,861 

November 2023 = $6,614    YTD: $92,079 

Difference: Month =  -$1,123     YTD: -$33,218 

We have issued a total of 26 building permits for November 2024. 

14 have been inside the corporate limits (of which 0 have been new homes). 

We have issued 12 in Jackson Township (of which, 0 has been for a new home). 

Estimated Cost of projects permitted $960,013. 

 
 

Please feel free to email, call or stop by the office anytime. 
 
 

At your service! 
 

                                                   Frank Zawadzki 


	Proposed Sign dimensions.pdf
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4


	Commitments Conditions Offered: At a height of 60 feet the motoring public, especially semi trucks, cannot see the sign until they are at the exit ramp, 
	PHONE 3179845845 FAX 3179845938 WWWCICEROINORG: 
	Text3: Cicero
	Text4: jdkeller1354@gmail.com
	Text6: 46034
	Text8: Indiana
	Text9: 46034
	Text12: 23576 Englewood Road
	Text14: 03-06-06-00-00-001.000
	Text19: 60 feet to 150 feet.  
	Text2: P.O. Box 597
	Text5: 
	Text7: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: 260-413-2021
	Text24: nlawrence@lawrencebuilding.com
	Text25: this makes for a potential dangerous situation with trucks abruptly slowly and/or changing lanes to
	Text26: exit.  If we adjacent property owners allow us to remove trees the visibility only improves slightly.
	Text27: The JACK Charitable Remainder Trust 
	Text28: Cicero
	Text29: Lawrence Building Corp
	Text30: 8401 Fritz Road
	Text31: Fort Wayne
	Text32: IN
	Text33: 46818
	Text35: We have been granted a variance for a high rise sign at a height of 60 feet, 
	Text36: due to visibility issues on Highway 31 we are requesting that the allowed height be changed from 
	Check Box37: Yes
	Check Box38: Off
	Check Box39: Off
	Check Box40: Off
	Text42:  317-443-5990
	1: This project consists of the new construction of a Convenience Store/Fueling Stop. The project will be a design and build method,
	2: we will design the site, building, and general fuel system layout.  We have certified Architectural and Engineered drawings
	3: which have been approved by the appropriate state and local agencies. This project will not be injurious to the public health, safety, morals, nor general
	4: welfare of the community. The project will actually be a benefit to the community by adding a needed stop for the fueling public in an area that has 
	5: and will become a desert for fuel due to the changes on Highway 31. This will be a 24 hour operation with food service, Noble Romans Pizza. 
	6: The request for a sign variance is needed in order to allow the motoring public to know there is a source for food and fuel on a limited access highway.
	7: McClure Oil is an Indiana based, Female owned company that has been in business for 4 generations.
	8: The State is forcing us to close our location at 216th Street, as it also did with the Speedway which was near this location a few years ago.
	9: These actions are part of the reason there will be the fuel desert mentioned earlier. 
	10: McClure Oil has and always will be a good community partner reflecting the strong core values of the McClure Family. 
	11: 
	12: Raising the height of the sign ensures adequate time for the motoring public to be able to make the decision to want to exit and safely 
	13: take the appropriate actions, slow down, change lanes, to exit the highway.  Our goal is to accomplish this with minimal effects to the 
	14: environment, not having to remove trees to get adequate visibility.
	15: 
	16: 
	17: 
	1_2: 
	2_2: 
	3_2: 
	4_2: 
	5_2: 
	6_2: 
	7_2: 
	8_2: 
	1_3: 
	2_3: 
	3_3: 
	4_3: 
	5_3: 
	6_3: 


